ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Edward B. Cottingham, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTHONY JACKSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213445

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

FEB 19 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

When a defendant alerts the court he wishes to represent himself, may the court postpone the exercise of his constitutional right until after critical stages of the trial?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in finding the defendant freely and voluntarily gave a statement to law enforcement after the police officer threatened the defendant that “there would be a difference” in his treatment if he failed to cooperate?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 23, 2012, an Horry County grand jury indicted Anthony Jerome Jackson (“Jackson”) for first degree burglary. R. 387. On April 5, 2012, a hearing was held before the Honorable Larry B. Hyman. April 5, 2012 R. 1. At this hearing, Jackson was represented by Ronald W. Hazzard. April 5, 2012 R. 1. Martin D. Spratlin and Bradley C. Richardson represented the State. April 5, 2012 R. 1. On September 12, 2012, another hearing was held in the case before the Honorable J. Derham Cole. September 12, 2012 R. 17. At this hearing, Eric J. Fox represented Jackson. September 12, 2012 R. 17.

On October 11, 2012, another pretrial hearing was held before the Honorable Edward B. Cottingham. October 11, 2012 R. 31. Fox represented Jackson. At this hearing, Judge Cottingham ruled, *inter alia*, that a statement given by Jackson to law enforcement was admissible. October 11, 2012 R. 64, ll. 9 – 25.

On November 13-15, 2012, Jackson was tried before Judge Cottingham and a jury. R. 68. Martin D. Spratlin and Joshua D. Holford represented the State. R. 68. Eric Fox initially appeared on behalf of Jackson, but Jackson represented himself during the trial. R. 68. R. 146, l. 20 – 148, l. 1. The jury convicted Jackson of first degree burglary. R. 377, l. 24 – 378, l. 6. The State previously served a notice of intent to seek life without parole on Jackson and this was the sentence he received. R. 382, l. 18 – 384, l. 9. A notice of appeal was timely served and filed and this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

From the very beginning of this case, Anthony Jerome Jackson (“Jackson”) told the court he was unhappy with his attorney. R. 15, ll. 12 – 22. At an April 5, 2012, hearing, Jackson attempted to plead guilty. R. 11, ll. 6 – 9. Jackson – not his attorney – begged the trial judge to accept a plea deal offered by the State that would result in a sentence of between seven and ten years, but asked to delay sentencing for two weeks so that he could finish his GED classes at the county jail. R. 8, ll. 7 – 9, l. 12. Judge Hyman agreed. R. 9, ll. 11 – 12. But during the plea colloquy when Jackson told Judge Hyman that he was dissatisfied with the services of his attorney, the plea hearing stopped. R. 15, ll. 12 – 23. Jackson ultimately went to trial. He was accused of stealing a credit card from a hotel room in Myrtle Beach. R. 175, l. 2 – 176, l. 15. He received a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for taking a credit card and using it to buy \$28.89 worth of food from a pancake house for himself and other homeless people. R. 315, l. 11 – 316, l. 13. R. 311, ll. 6 – 21.

The September 12, 2012, Hearing Before Judge Cole

After the hearing before Judge Hyman, Jackson next appeared before Judge Cole with a different lawyer, Eric Fox (“Fox”). R. 20, ll. 8 – 9. Jackson told Judge Cole that he did not understand the reason he was before the court that day. R. 20, ll. 10 – 13. Judge Cole told Jackson about a plea offer extended by the State. R. 20 l. 14 – 21 l. 13. When asked if he had enough time to confer with Fox about whether to accept the State’s offer, Jackson replied, “No, I ain’t had that much time; it just came and just proposed it to me and that was it.” R. 21, ll. 15 – 20.

Fox was a public defender appointed when Jackson's previous attorney took a position in another county. R. 22, ll. 2 – 11. By the time of this hearing, the State's offer had changed to a plea that would result in a sentence of zero to fifteen years' imprisonment. R. 23, l. 19 – 24, l. 17. Jackson was confused about the offers and his charges. R. 26, l. 10 – 27, l. 17. After answering the court that he understood English "[a] little bit," Judge Cole told him, "Okay, all right, you don't want to accept the offer; you want a trial; you want a jury trial? Take him back and we'll give him a jury trial." R., 19 23 – 12, l. 2. Before removing Jackson, the State served him with a notice of intent to seek life without parole. R. 28, ll. 5 – 22. Fox never said a word during the entire hearing.¹

The Denno Hearing Before Judge Cottingham

Fox represented Jackson at a pretrial hearing held before Judge Cottingham on October 11, 2012. R. 31. The original purpose of the hearing was to determine whether a statement given by Jackson was admissible pursuant to Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964). Before the Denno hearing began, Fox told Judge Cottingham that Jackson wanted to address the court. R. 39, ll. 3 – 9. Jackson first told the court he wanted a different lawyer. R. 39, ll. 19 – 20. Jackson had two pending burglary charges. R. 39, l. 19 – 40, l. 1. Jackson stated, "I was talking to [Fox] out there in the conference room and he don't even know which burglary that I'm going to trial on..." R.39, l. 23 – 40, l. 1. Jackson said, "I'm not satisfied with my counsel." R. 40, ll. 14 – 15.

Judge Cottingham then attempted to convince Jackson that Fox was a very capable attorney and that he needed representation. R. 40, ll. 16 – 12, l. 41. Jackson replied, "I

¹ The transcript records Fox speaking on page 9, but this is a typographical error. It is clear from the text that the solicitor is speaking because he refers to "Mr. Fox" several times. R.25, l. 10 – 26, l. 9.

don't want him on my case." R. 42, l. 12. Judge Cottingham replied, "Well, I don't care what you want, **the decision is mine.**" R. 42, ll. 13 – 14 (emphasis added). Jackson replied, "Let the record be known that I don't want him on my case." R. 42, ll. 15 – 16. Judge Cottingham responded, "Well, let the record be known too, that I offered you to represent yourself or hire your own lawyer. Absent that, Mr. Fox is going to be your lawyer." R. 42, ll. 17 – 19.

The trial judge then conducted a colloquy with the attorneys and discussed a plea offer. R. 43, l. 21 – 44, l. 45. Judge Cottingham asked Jackson to confirm whether he had declined a previous plea offer. R. 44, ll. 10 – 15. Jackson replied, "I don't even understand what he's still on my case. I don't understand –" R. 44, l. 16 – 17. The trial judge told Jackson, "I'm not asking you now." R. 44, l. 18. Without inquiring further as to whether Jackson wanted to represent himself or conducting a colloquy pursuant to Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), Judge Cottingham conducted the Denno hearing with Fox representing Jackson. R.45, l. 21 – 46, l. 7.

Fox cross-examined the State's witness at the Denno hearing. R. 60, l. 12 – 62, l. 16. Fox made a limited argument supporting his motion to suppress the statement. R. 63, ll. 13 – 23. The trial court refused to suppress the statement. R.64, ll. 8 – 25. The trial judge concluded the hearing by urging Jackson to cooperate with Fox, but telling him that he was "not entitled to have the benefit of his advice every day between now and date of trial." R. 65, ll. 11 – 24.

The Issue of Jackson's Self-Representation at Trial

After the solicitor called the case, Fox told Judge Cottingham that Jackson wanted to address the court. R. 75, ll. 14 – 15. Jackson told the trial judge that he did not want Fox representing him. R. 75, ll. 19 – 22. Jackson said, “I’ll represent myself.” R. 75, ll. 19 – 22.

The trial judge attempted to convince Jackson to keep Fox as his attorney. R. 76, l. 1 – 10, l. 12. Jackson replied:

I’ll represent myself, I rather represent myself. If I’m going to get life I rather get take, get life for myself, I don’t need no help.

R. 77, ll. 13 – 15 (emphasis added). The trial judge then asked Jackson several questions about his ability to represent himself and whether he was prepared for trial. R. 77, l. 19 – 81, l. 9. Judge Cottingham warned Jackson that it would be “extremely dangerous in this most serious offense for you to represent yourself.” R. 78, ll. 18 – 20. He told Jackson he was facing life imprisonment. R. 78, l. 17 – 24.

The discussion regarding Jackson’s self-representation ceased when the trial judge was unable to get a copy of the Faretta decision from the solicitor. R. 81, ll. 9 – 13. Judge Cottingham said, “Okay, well let’s go ahead, be finding it and let’s go ahead with the other issue while your staff is finding the case for me. All right let’s go forward with the identification matter.” R. 81, l. 25 – 82, l. 3. The trial judge said, “Mr. Fox, I’m going to leave you in the case for this important matter.” R. 83, ll. 12 – 13.

The court then ruled:

And after this after I hear any motions if he still wants to represent himself I’m going to let him do it in his peril. I would urge him not to do it but the law is clear if he insists he’s got that right, but I do want you [Fox] to stay with him **in this important part of the proceedings** to protect his interest.

R. 83, ll. 15 – 20 (emphasis added). The State’s first witness was sworn for a Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972) hearing. Before the State questioned the witness, the following occurred:

THE COURT: Mr. Jackson, I’ll deal with whether or not you want to represent yourself after this but –

DEFENDANT JACKSON: I still do.

THE COURT: This is [an] important legal matter that you need your lawyer to look into.

DEFENDANT JACKSON: **I’ll represent myself, I don’t need him, I don’t trust him.**

THE COURT: **Well I’ll deal with that in a minute.**

R. 83, l. 24 – 84, l. 7 (emphasis added). The court then conducted the Biggers hearing with Fox representing Jackson and questioning the witnesses. R. 84, l. 12 – 126, l. 6.

During the Biggers hearing, the State presented the testimony of a Myrtle Beach police officer and a waitress at the pancake house. R. 84, ll. 14 – 16. R. 99 ll. 15 – 20. The police officer, Jeffery Thomas (“Thomas”) responded to a call of a suspicious person at a hotel. R. 85, l. 17 – 21. The officer spoke with the occupants of the room and obtained a description of the man who entered the room claiming to be a hotel security guard. R. 85, l. 22 – 21, l. 12. He also viewed the hotel security video. R. 88, ll. 13 – 89, l. 4. One of the room’s occupants told the officer that his credit card had been used twice at the pancake house. R. 89, ll. 5 – 15. The officer went to the pancake house and spoke with the waitress, Tara Maenner (“Maenner”). R. 90, ll. 1 – 13. Maenner provided copies of credit card receipts showing charges to the victim’s account and gave the officer a description of the man who used the credit card. R. 90, ll. 1 – 23.

Officer Thomas went outside and “spotted someone fitting the description a half block away.” R. 91, ll. 2 – 8. He detained Jackson. R. 91, ll. 2 – 8. Officer Thomas had another policeman bring Maenner to the scene and said she “did positively identify him.” R. 92, ll. 15 – 22. At this point, Fox objected. R. 92, l. 23. Jackson interjected, “Can he ask did the victims identify me?” R. 92, ll. 24 – 25. Judge Cottingham told Jackson, “No, sir, you let your lawyer do this at this time, proceed.” R. 93, ll. 1 – 2. Fox then cross-examined Officer Thomas. R. 94, l. 8 – 98, l. 2.

Maenner testified she recognized the defendant because he had been in the pancake house “a time or two.” R. 100, ll. 3 – 16. She gave an in-court identification of Jackson. R. 104, ll. 2 – 23. Fox then cross-examined Maenner. R. 104, l. 24 – 106, l. 12. The State also called the hotel room’s two occupants who could not positively identify Jackson as the man who entered their room. R. 107, l. 7 – 125, l. 1. Fox conducted the cross-examinations. R. 107, l. 7 – 125, l. 1. After hearing argument from Fox (not Jackson), the trial court refused to suppress Maenner’s in-court identification. R. 125, l. 22 – 126, l. 6.

By the end of the Biggers hearing, the court had obtained copies of several cases to use in questioning Jackson and in advising him regarding the dangers of self-representation. R. 126, l. 9 – 127, l. 21. The trial judge conducted an extended discussion with Jackson. R. 127, l. 20 – 140, l. 19. After the discussion, the court said that it had “exhaustively warned [Jackson] of the dangers” and asked if he still wanted to represent himself. R. 140, ll. 20 – 25. Jackson said, “Yes, sir, I represent, I don’t understand what’s going on but I, I’ll talk for myself.” R. 141, ll. 1 – 3. After further discussion, during which Jackson offered to plead guilty even if it meant life without parole, the trial judge ruled, “No, sir, we are going to trial. I’m going to let you represent yourself.” R. 141 l. 4 – 142, l. 21.

The jury entered the courtroom. R. 146, ll. 16 – 19. The trial judge told the jury that Jackson would represent himself and they could not make any adverse inference from that fact. R. 147 ll. 9 – 13. Despite his ruling that Jackson would represent himself and informing the jury of this ruling, the trial judge then had Fox participate in voir dire instead of Jackson. R. 148, l. 2 – 88, l. 20. Jackson did not speak during voir dire. R. 148, l. 2 – 155, l. 20. At no point did the trial judge ask Jackson whether he wanted to represent himself during voir dire. R. 148, l. 2 – 155, l. 20. Without obtaining Jackson's assent on the record, Judge Cottingham said, "All right, Mr. Fox, I've permitted you to sit here and assist the defendant in the selection of the jury only, but do you have any further inquiry?" R. 154, l. 17 – 19. Fox then proposed an additional voir dire question. R. 154, ll. 20 – 23.

After voir dire, the trial judge told the jury, "And the defendant is representing himself, I've asked Mr. Fox to assist in the selection of the jury process and the defendant is agreeing to that; is that correct? R. 155, ll. 13 – 16. Fox (not Jackson) replied, "Yes, Your Honor." R. 155, l. 17. The trial judge did not obtain Jackson's consent to Fox selecting the jury on the record. Fox then exercised Jackson's strikes and selected the jury. R. 155, l. 18 – 165, l. 18. The trial then began and Jackson made his opening statement and examined the State's witnesses. R. 179, l. 11 – 180, l. 8.

The Evidence at Trial

Two golfers from Pennsylvania and Connecticut were awakened in their Myrtle Beach hotel room by a man entering through the room's sliding glass door. R. 181, ll. 1 – 3. R. 181, ll. 17 – 24. R. 182, ll. 7 – 15. R. 187, l. 20 – 189, l. 8. The man told them he was with hotel security. R. 188 l, ll. 5 – 10. He shined a light and showed them a badge. R. 188, ll. 11 – 13. The man called the front desk and said everything was "all clear." R. 188,

l. 17 – 19. He had the golfer lock the sliding glass door and then exited the room. R. 188, ll. 19 – 22. The golfer noticed that the man picked up a pair of pants and left the room with them. R. 188, ll. 22 – 24.

The golfer gave chase. R. 188, ll. 24 – 25. The man told the golfer he had heard that marijuana was being consumed in the room and was checking the pants for drugs. R. 188, l. 24 – 189, l. 5. The golfer took the man back to the room. R. 189, ll. 1 – 8. The man looked around and then left. R. 189, ll. 5 – 6. Once the man left, one of the golfers noticed his wallet was missing. R. 189, ll. 6 – 8. Neither golfer could identify Jackson as the man they encountered in their room. R. 200, l. 22 – 201, l. 8. R. 216, ll. 7 – 8.

By the time the police arrived, the golfer was already on the telephone canceling his credit cards. R. 197, l. 18 – 198, l. 1. As he was canceling a card, the company informed him the card had just been used at a nearby pancake house. R. 199, ll. 7 – 20. The golfer informed the police. R. 199, l. 21 – 200, l. 3. As recounted in the Biggers hearing, Officer Thomas went to the pancake house, met with the waitress, and subsequently arrested Jackson. R. 221, l. 14 – 223, l. 14.

The morning following his arrest, Jackson was questioned by Detective Paul Clothier (“Clothier”). R. 289, ll. 2 – 11. Detective Clothier made an audio recording of Jackson’s interrogation. R. 290, ll. 1 – 6. During the interrogation, Jackson admitted taking the credit card from the hotel room. R. 313, ll. 12 – 16. The detective confronted Jackson with two charges made at the pancake house which totaled \$28.89. R. 315, ll. 11 – 24. Jackson admitted making the charges on credit cards when he bought food for himself and other homeless people. R. 316, ll. 1 – 16.

Jackson made his own closing argument. R. 350, l. 24 – 352, l. 17. He argued that no one had seen him commit the burglary. R. 351, ll. 9 – 10. Jackson also argued that his statement to law enforcement was coerced and the police lied to him about the evidence to get him to confess. R. 352, ll. 6 – 10. During deliberations, the jury requested to hear a portion of the audio recording of Jackson's interrogation. R. 373, ll. 12 – 20. While the trial record does not conclusively show at what point the jury had the recording stopped, the trial judge immediately re-charged them on the law concerning whether a statement is freely and voluntarily made. R. 375, l. 24 – 376, l. 9. After continuing deliberations, the jury returned a guilty verdict. R. 377, l. 24 – 378 11, l. 6.

ARGUMENT

1.

When a defendant alerts the court he wishes to represent himself, the court may not postpone the exercise of his constitutional right until after critical stages of the trial.

The trial court erred when it refused to let Jackson represent himself during the Denno hearing, the Biggers hearing, voir dire, and jury selection. “The Sixth Amendment does not provide merely that a defense shall be made for the accused; it grants to the accused personally the right to make his defense.” Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819 (1975). “The right to defend is given directly to the accused; for it is he who suffers the consequences if the defense fails.” Id. at 819-20. “To thrust counsel upon the accused, against his considered wish, thus violates the logic of the Amendment.” Id. at 820.

In Faretta, the defendant “weeks before trial” told the judge he wanted to represent himself. Id. at 835. The trial judge originally ruled that the defendant could represent himself, but later reversed his decision after the defendant was unable to satisfactorily answer technical questions concerning the law. Id. at 808-10. The United States Supreme Court reversed. The Court held, “We need make no assessment of how well or poorly Faretta had mastered the intricacies of the hearsay rule in the California code provisions that govern the challenges of potential jurors on voir dire. For his technical legal knowledge, as such, was not relevant to an assessment of his knowing exercise of the right to defend himself.” Id. at 836.

Just as in Faretta, Jackson told the trial court weeks before trial that he did not want Fox to represent him. R. 44, l. 16 – 17. When the trial court indicated that Fox would conduct the Denno hearing, Jackson said, “I don’t even understand what he’s still on my

case. I don't understand --"R. 44, l. 16 – 17. This was after the trial judge made an incorrect statement of law and told Jackson the decision of whether he would represent himself was the court's to make. R. 42, ll. 13 – 14. The trial judge therefore erred when it did not make any further inquiry into Jackson's desire to represent himself at the Denno hearing and forced Fox's unwanted representation among him.

Before any substantive portion of the trial began, Jackson made an unequivocal demand that he be allowed to represent himself. Jackson said, "I'll represent myself, I don't need [Fox], I don't trust him." R. 83, l. 24 – 84, l. 7. "To force a lawyer on a defendant can only lead him to believe that the law contrived against him." Id. at 834. The trial judge ultimately determined that Jackson would represent himself, but inexplicably refused to allow him to do so until after the Biggers hearing, voir dire, and jury selection. This also was error that requires reversal. State v. Barnes, Op. No. 27322, ___ S.C. ___, ___ S.E.2d ___, 2014 WL 210878, Shearouse Advance Sheet No: 2, January 15, 2014.

In Barnes, a capital defendant unequivocally told the trial court that he wanted to represent himself. Id. at *1. The trial court refused to allow the defendant to represent himself after his own psychiatrist testified that while he was competent to stand trial, he was not competent to waive his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. Id. at *3-4. The South Carolina Supreme Court ruled that no such higher standard of competency exists and reversed. Id. at 4-5. The Court held, "So long as the defendant makes his request prior to trial, the only proper inquiry is that mandated by Faretta." Id. at *4, citing State v. Winkler, 388 S.C. 574, 698 S.E.2d 596 (2010).

No prejudice inquiry or harmless error analysis may be conducted because the erroneous denial of a Faretta request is a structural error. Barnes at *4. See also

McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168 (1984). The Barnes Court did not perform any harmless error analysis: Barnes at *4-5. Once it determined that a Faretta error occurred, it summarily reversed. Id. at *5. This Court must do the same because of the structural error caused by the trial court's refusal to allow Jackson to represent himself during critical portions of the trial.

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