ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
The Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-213445

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY JACKSON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 1276
Conway, SC 29526
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

FEB 04 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

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

ARGUMENTS

I.

The trial court correctly inquired into Appellant's knowing and intelligent waiver of counsel and desire to appear pro se by following the guidelines set forth in Faretta v. California.

Appellant argues the trial court erred when it refused to let Appellant represent himself during the Denno hearing, the Biggers hearing, voir dire, and jury selection. However, no requirement exists that a trial court must grant an appellant the ability to proceed pro se immediately. The trial court diligently advised Appellant of his right to counsel, warned him about the dangers of representing himself, and gave him numerous opportunities to observe his appointed attorney in action before accepting his decision to represent himself. The trial court was correct in following the Faretta guidelines and its decision should be affirmed.

South Carolina appellate courts have made clear one can waive one's right to counsel based on Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). State v. Bryant, 383 S.C. 410, 414, 680 S.E.2d 11, 13 (Ct. App. 2009). "The right to proceed *pro se* must be clearly asserted by the defendant prior to trial." State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 41, 503 S.E.2d 747, 750 (1998) (emphasis added). "It is the trial court's responsibility to determine whether there was a knowing and intelligent waiver by the accused." Bryant, 383 S.C. at 414, 680 S.E.2d at 13. "To effectuate a valid waiver, the accused must (1) be advised of the right to counsel and (2) be adequately warned of the dangers of self-representation." Id. Our Supreme Court has held a trial court did not err in accepting an appellant's waiver of his right to counsel where the trial judge held several hearings to determine whether the appellant understood what it meant to represent himself and

informed the appellant of the dangers of self-representation. Reed, 332 S.C. at 41-42, 503 S.E.2d at 750.

Here, the trial judge addressed Appellant's concern that he was not satisfied with his current attorney at the pretrial hearing held on October 11, 2012. (R. p. 39-40.) At that time, Appellant did not clearly assert a desire to represent himself. However, the trial judge made clear to him that he had three choices: hire his own lawyer, represent himself, or keep his current lawyer. (R. p.42.) By the end of the hearing, Appellant still had not clearly asserted a specific request that he be permitted to represent himself, and the trial court advised him to cooperate with his current attorney in the thirty-one days between the hearing and the trial date. (R.p.65.)

Appellant argues the trial court erred by not inquiring into his desire to represent himself, but the trial court was not required to make a Faretta inquiry when Appellant had not clearly asserted his desire to proceed pro se. See Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 41, 503 S.E.2d 747, 750 (1998) ("The right to proceed *pro se* must be clearly asserted by the defendant prior to trial." (emphasis added)). Appellant seems to confuse Appellant's assertion that he was dissatisfied with his attorney with a clear assertion of the right to proceed pro se. However, these are two very different contentions. Once Appellant had complained to the trial court about his attorney, and was given three choices, he did not inform the trial court he wished to represent himself. By failing to make this clear assertion, Appellant was left with the status quo of remaining with his appointed attorney in place.

At the beginning of the trial on November 13, 2012, Appellant told the trial court, for the first time, that he wished to represent himself. (R. p.75, line 2.) The trial judge emphasized to Appellant how extremely dangerous it was for him to represent himself in this most serious offense, particularly because he was facing life imprisonment. (R. p.78,

lines 17-24.) The trial court did not immediately make a decision to permit Appellant to proceed pro se because it gave the State time to locate the Faretta case so it could make appropriate findings on the record. During that time, the trial court proceeded with the Neil v. Biggers hearing with Mr. Fox acting as defense counsel, telling Appellant, “I’ll deal with whether you want to represent yourself after this” (R. p.81, line 9-R. p.83, line 25.) Of course Appellant was with Mr. Fox during the entire proceeding and was able to participate fully.

Reed demonstrates appropriate inquiry under Faretta takes time and diligence on the part of the trial judge to make an informed determination regarding an appellant’s decision to represent himself. Nothing in Reed or any other case law indicates a trial judge must accept an appellant’s waiver quickly. On the contrary, Reed emphasizes the trial judge’s important responsibility to ensure a defendant is informed of the dangers of self-representation and makes a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel. The fact that the trial judge here took time to obtain the Faretta case so that he could follow its guidelines demonstrates his adherence to proper procedure rather than showing any error on his part in delaying his decision.

Appellant cites many cases to support his proposition that the portions of the trial process the trial court allowed Appellant’s attorney to conduct were critical stages. However, in all the cited cases, the issue was the absence of a defendant and/or his attorney. See U.S. v. Tipton, 90 F.3d 861, 871 (4th Cir. 1996) (“The principal challenge is to the district court’s having conducted portions of the jury voir dire out of the immediate presence of the appellants.”); U.S. v. Hamilton, 391 F.3d 1066, 1069 (9th Cir. 2004) (“Hamilton argues for the first time on appeal that the district court violated his rights under the Sixth Amendment by permitting the presentation of evidence against him

during the suppression hearing while neither Hamilton nor his counsel was present.”); People v. Williams, 726 N.E.2d 641, 643 (Ill. App. Ct. 2000) (“Defendant appeals, contending that the trial court abused its discretion by denying him the right to be present at the discharge hearing.”); McGinnis v. State, 430 S.E.2d 618, 622 (Ga. Ct. App. 1993) (“Therefore, we hold that it constitutes prejudicial error to conduct an evidentiary suppression hearing in the defendant’s absence.”); U.S. v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218, 223-24 (1967) (“In contrast, in this case it is urged that the assistance of counsel at the lineup was indispensable to protect Wade’s most basic right as a criminal defendant-his right to a fair trial at which the witnesses against him might be meaningfully cross-examined.”). Thus, these cases are not applicable to the situation at hand. Appellant was present for all the above portions of the trial process and was able to assist or be assisted by his attorney at all times. Thus, the type of prejudice contemplated in the trial in absentia cases cited by Appellant is simply not present in the current case.

Appellant cites State v. Barnes, Op. No. 27322 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Oct. 16, 2013) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 44 at 16), to support his argument that “[n]o prejudice inquiry or harmless error analysis may be conducted because the erroneous denial of a Faretta request is a structural error.” (App. Br. p.16.) Appellant makes much of the fact the Court reversed summarily once it determined a Faretta error had occurred and advocates this Court has no choice but to do the same here. However, upon a close reading of Barnes, the issue there “is whether South Carolina will adopt the higher competency standard permitted by *Edwards* and thus alter the traditional *Faretta* threshold inquiry which permits any defendant competent to stand trial to waive his right to counsel.” Id. at 22. The reason the Court reversed was because it chose not to adopt the higher standard and consequently invalidated the trial judge’s denial of the appellant’s request to

proceed pro se because his decision was based on the Edwards standard. Id. The facts of this case are not at all related to standard of competency. Thus, Barnes has no bearing on the case at hand.

To the extent Barnes has any impact on the case before this Court, it is limited to Faretta being the proper standard in a case in which an appellant desires to represent himself. Here, the trial judge correctly inquired based on Faretta and, thus, did not err. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the trial court's decision to allow Appellant to represent himself and find no prejudice by its delay of the decision in light of a thorough Faretta inquiry.

II.

The trial court correctly made an initial determination of admissibility of Appellant's statement based on the fact that he gave it freely and voluntarily and properly instructed the jury to make its own determination regarding whether the statement was made by the defendant voluntarily and of his own free will.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in finding the defendant freely and voluntarily gave a statement to law enforcement after the police officer threatened the defendant that "there would be a difference" in his treatment if he failed to cooperate. On the contrary, the trial court appropriately considered the proper factors in its determination the statement was freely and voluntarily given, including any threats, promises, or leniency. Thus, the trial court's initial determination was proper and it correctly permitted the jury to make its own further determination regarding the statement.

"On appeal, the conclusion of the trial judge on issues of fact as to the voluntariness of a confession will not be disturbed unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion." State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 247 (1990). "Once a voluntary waiver of the *Miranda* rights is made, that waiver continues until the individual being questioned indicates that he wants to revoke the waiver and remain silent or circumstances exist which establish that his 'will has been overborne and his capacity for self-determination critically impaired.'" Id. at 200, 391 S.E.2d at 246 (citation omitted). "Further, the confession may not be 'extracted by any sort of threats or violence, [or] obtained by any direct or implied promises, however slight, [or] by the exertion of improper influence.'" Id. (citation omitted). "A statement induced by a promise of leniency is involuntary only if so connected with the inducement as to be a

consequence of the promise.” Id. at 200, 391 S.E.2d at 246-47 (citing State v. Peake, 291 S.C. 138, 352 S.E.2d 487 (1987). “The trial judge’s determination of whether a statement was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made, requires an examination of ‘the totality of the circumstances’ surrounding the waiver.” Id. at 200, 391 S.E.2d at 247 (citation omitted). “Our courts have recognized that the appropriate factors to consider in the totality of circumstances analysis include: background, experience, conduct of the accused, age, length of custody, police misrepresentations, isolation of a minor from his or her parent, threats of violence, and promises of leniency.” State v. Dye, 384 S.C. 42, 47, 681 S.E.2d 23, 26 (Ct. App. 2009). The trial court’s factual conclusions as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to constitute an abuse of discretion. State v. Franklin, 390 S.C. 535, 539, 702 S.E.2d 568, 570 (Ct. App. 2010). An appellate court is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Id. When reviewing a trial court’s ruling concerning voluntariness, the appellate court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence. Id. at 539, 702 S.E.2d at 570-71.

In Rochester, the appellant argued the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress his confession, arguing it was improperly induced by a promise by the polygraph examiner that it would be in his best interest to tell the truth. Id. at 199, 391 S.E.2d at 246. Our Supreme Court found the confession was freely and voluntarily made and, therefore, admissible. Id. at 200, 391 S.E.2d at 246. The Court determined the polygraph examiner’s statement was not an inducement or hope of lighter punishment. Id. at 200-01, 391 S.E.2d at 247. The Court distinguished it from Peake, in which the appellant was “told by the interrogating officers that the State would not seek the death

penalty if he gave a statement.” Id. at 200, 391 S.E.2d at 247. Because Peake’s inculpatory statement was the product of that promise of leniency, the Court reversed his conviction and sentence. Id. at 200, 391 S.E.2d at 247. In Rochester, the Court pointed out the investigating officers did not at any time promise the appellant anything in exchange for his giving a statement. Id. at 200, 391 S.E.2d at 247. The Court also considered the totality of the circumstances, including evidence the appellant was not worn down by interrogation tactics and his confession was not induced by force or threats. Id. at 201, 391 S.E.2d at 247.

Here, as in Rochester, Appellant’s statement was not given in exchange for a promise of leniency. Detective Clothier merely told Appellant he would make a note of his cooperation for the solicitor’s office. This was nothing like the promise in Peake that the State would not seek the death penalty if Peake gave a statement. There was no discussion of the penalty in this case at all. Furthermore, Detective Clothier made a point of stating to Appellant, “I can’t promise you that, but that’s what I put in there.” (R. p.306, lines 24-25.)

Appellant specifically argues Clothier’s statement that there is a difference between cooperating and refusing to cooperate was a threat. State v. Corns, 310 S.C. 546, 426 S.E.2d 324 (Ct. App. 1992), is instructive in determining what constitutes a threat in the context of a confession. In Corns, this Court found the trial court erred in admitting the statement because officers coerced Corns’s confession by means of veiled threats against his family that his wife could be arrested and his children taken by the Department of Social Services. In the case at hand, no threats were made against Appellant or his family. Telling Appellant there is a difference between cooperating and refusing to cooperate certainly does not rise to the level of a threat.

Because Detective Clothier did not threaten Appellant when he said there was a difference between cooperating and refusing to cooperate, and because the appellate court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence, this Court should affirm the trial court's decision to initially admit the statement and allow the jury to make its own determination. See Franklin at 539, 702 S.E.2d at 570-71 (stating the standard of review for trial court's factual findings regarding voluntariness of statement).

CONCLUSION